03/30/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0609

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 20-0609

ARIANE WITTMAN and JEREMY TAYLEN,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

VS.

CITY OF BILLINGS,

Defendant/Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court Yellowstone County, Cause No. DV 19-1124. Hon. Michael G. Moses

Appearances:

Tucker P. Gannett
Amanda Beckers Sowden
GANNETT SOWDEN LAW, PLLC
3936 Avenue B, Suite A
Billings, MT 59102
T: (406) 294-2000/F: (406) 294-2010
tucker@hgvlawfirm.com
amanda@hgvlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Appellants
Ariane Wittman and Jeremy Taylen

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the District Court err by injecting an "intent to damage" element into Montana inverse condemnation law, forsaking over forty-years of *Rauser's* foreseeability test, in determining that grease accumulating in City sewers and causing sewage overflows is not an inherent risk of operating a public sewer system?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ariane Wittman and Jeremy Taylen own and occupy the home located at 1024 Claremore Lane in the Billings Heights, which is connected to the City's public sewer system. On June 20, 2019, a grease-clog in the City's public sewer main blocked the regular gravity-flow, causing sewage to backup and surcharge the Wittman/Taylen lateral sewer service line and flood their basement with nearly 1,000 gallons of raw sewage. The sewage overflow caused significant damage to the Wittman/Taylen home. The City of Billings ("City") denied responsibility for the sewage overflow, and Ms. Wittman and Mr. Taylen filed a one-count complaint against the City for inverse condemnation.¹

issued.

- 1 -

¹ The June 20, 2019 grease accumulation/sewer discharge damaged two neighboring properties, one owned by Wittman/Taylen and the other owned by Dave and Heidi Christensen. The Christensens similarly filed a one-count complaint against the City for inverse condemnation, and that claim was resolved before the Court's Order (which is the subject of this appeal) was

In the last 40 years in Billings, private property owners have experienced raw sewage inundating their homes and businesses due to a blockage on the sewer main an average of 10-15 times per year, every year. Grease discharge and accumulation is a regular and pervasive cause of sewer-main overflow events, locally and around the developed-world.

In March 2020 Ms. Wittman and Mr. Taylen moved for partial summary judgment, seeking an order from the Court concluding that grease accumulating in public sewer mains is an inherent and inescapable consequence of operating public sewers, allowing the District Court to determine that the property had been damaged for public use, without just compensation, as a matter of law. *See Buhmann v. State*, 2008 MT 465, ¶ 56, 348 Mont. 205, 222, 201 P.3d 70, 84 (the weight of authority tends to support the view that the right to jury trial in inverse condemnation suits is limited solely to the issue of damages).

Relying on inverse condemnation law from Nebraska, Oregon, and Texas the District Court determined that because there was no "intent for a constitutional taking," the grease buildup could not "qualify as a deliberate government action for inverse condemnation." Based on this conclusion, the Court dismissed Plaintiffs' inverse condemnation claim, and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ariane Wittman owns the home at 1024 Claremore Lane in Billings, Montana. Dkt.² # 1, ¶ 1. Because Ms. Wittman's home is located within the Billings City limits, she and her partner Jeremy Taylen are required to have their home connected to the City's public sewer system. Deposition of Scott Emerick, 18:22-19:1 (February 11, 2020) (Tab 3³). There is no way for an individual who owns a home within City limits to "opt-out," or choose not to connect to the City's public sewer system. *Id.* at 18:1-21.

On June 20, 2019 at approximately 10:45 am, a grease-buildup in the City's sewer main blocked the regular gravity-flow of wastewater, surcharging the Wittman/Taylen lateral sewer service line, and causing nearly 1,000 gallons of raw sewage to backup into their home. *Dkt. #1, ¶¶ 4-5*; *City Public Works Memorandum* (Tab 9). There is no dispute as to the location of the grease accumulation – it was in the City-owned sewer main. Depo. Emerick, 78:14-17 (Tab 3). This scenario – where a stoppage on the City-owned sewer main causes a sewage overflow onto private property – is referred to as a Sanitary Sewer Overflow ("SSO") event.

_

² "Dkt." refers to the District Court Docket, and "#" identifies in which document the information may be found in the record on appeal.

³ "Tab" refers to the numbered-tab in the Appendix attached to this brief where the document can be found.

Asked about the inevitability of SSO events in the regular operation of a public sewer system, the City's superintendent of distribution and collection had the following to say:

[Y]ou can't control what people flush. So you're always – you're always going to have some SSOs. I don't care what system you look at. Every – every community has sanitary sewer overflows. You could have a brand new system similar to this, and you're going to have an SSO because somebody's flushing something that they shouldn't be in the wastewater system.

Id. at 37:6-13. Mr. Emerick even agreed that private property overflow events are a "necessary part of the design" of public sewer systems. Id. at 37:14-16. Speaking specifically about grease accumulation, Mr. Emerick stated that "it's going to collect no matter what type of pipe it is. It collects on the pipe walls, and it just keeps collecting until it eventually chokes off the pipe, the flow." Id. at 53:2-6. The City's proposed expert witness, superintendent of the Bozeman sewer system John Alston, stated something similar in his expert witness disclosure:

This [grease] problem is nationwide and occurs when homeowners don't scrape their dishes, put food down the disposal or pour excess grease down the drain.

Dkt. # 17, p. 6. Asked if grease accumulation is an inevitable part of operating a public sewer system, the Bozeman superintendent responded, "Sure it is."

Deposition of John Alston, 62:23-25 (June 29, 2020) (Tab 4)⁴. The City has even

- 4 -

⁴ While discussing the "nationwide problem" of grease accumulation in sewer lines, Mr. Alston referenced a "big glob that weighed over a ton of grease and flushable wipes" in the London,

gone so far as to advertise in the Billings Gazette, imploring Billings' citizens to avoid discharging grease into the sewer. Depo. Emerick, 37:14-20 (Tab 3).

Grease accumulation in City sewers is such a pervasive problem that the City has a specific ordinance prohibiting industrial sewer users from discharging "any water or waste containing free or floating oil and grease, or any discharge containing animal fat or grease by-product in excess of one hundred milligrams per liter (100 mg/L)." City Code Billings, Montana, § 26-604(9). In affidavits submitted to the Court in response to the Wittman/Taylen motion for partial summary judgment, Messrs. Emerick and Alston both stated that municipalities "can do virtually nothing to physically stop a resident from" discharging grease into the public sewer. *See Dkt. # 15, Ex. 1, ¶ 10; Dkt. # 15, Ex. 2, ¶ 6*.

Despite the pervasive evidence that grease accumulation is an inherent and inescapable consequence of operating public sewer systems, the Court denied the Wittman/Taylen motion for partial summary judgment and dismissed the case because there was no "intent for a constitutional taking," and the grease buildup thus could not "qualify as a deliberate government action for inverse condemnation." *Dkt.* #32, pp. 8-9 (Tab 1).

_

England sewer system. (Depo. Alston, 29: 1-3). The undersigned found a 2019 article in the Billings Gazette regarding the instance Mr. Alston was discussing, which is attached as Tab 5 for the Court's easy reference.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's summary judgment ruling *de novo* by applying the same M. R. Civ. P. 56 criteria as the district court. *Landa v*.

Assurance Co. of Am., 2013 MT 217, ¶ 13, 371 Mont. 202, 307 P.3d 284. An Article II, § 29 inverse condemnation claim requires no proof of negligence or other tortious conduct by the government – only proof that a public use or improvement, as deliberately designed, constructed, or maintained, caused a "taking" or "damaging" of private property. *Rauser v. Toston Irr. Dist.*, 172 Mont. 530, 538, 565 P.2d 632, 637 (1977).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In rendering judgment for the City, the District Court blurred the lines between the power of eminent domain, which arises as an inherent attribute of sovereignty, and an Article II, § 29 **inverse** condemnation claim, which serves as a check on the government's ability to cause private property damage incident to governmental undertakings. *See Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Auth. v. Hensler*, 83 Cal. App. 4th 556, 561, 99 Cal. Rptr. 2d 729, 733 (2000); Mont. Const. art. II, § 29. The distinction is subtle, but important:

There are also important practical differences between condemnation proceedings and actions by landowners to recover compensation for "inverse condemnation." Condemnation proceedings, depending on the applicable statute, require various affirmative action on the part of the condemning authority. To accomplish a taking by seizure, on the other hand, a condemning authority **need only occupy the land in**

question. Such a taking thus shifts to the landowner the burden to discover the encroachment and to take affirmative action to recover just compensation.

United States v. Clarke, 445 U.S. 253, 257, 100 S. Ct. 1127, 1130, 63 L. Ed. 2d 373 (1980) (emphasis added). Disregarding this distinction, the District Court concluded in its summary judgment order that:

Inverse condemnation requires **deliberate affirmative action** by the municipality to take the property. Thus, the government cannot accidentally, inadvertently, or erroneously assert the **power of eminent domain** for public use.

Dkt. # 32, p. 8 (Tab 1) (emphasis added). This is a misreading of over 120 years of Montana inverse condemnation law.

An inverse condemnation claim in Montana does not require proof of negligence or other tortious conduct by the government – only proof that a public use or improvement, as deliberately designed and built, caused a taking or damaging of private property. *Rauser*, 172 Mont. at 538, 565 P.2d at 637 (1977). The "deliberateness" requirement is satisfied when a public improvement, as deliberately designed and built, presents inherent risks of damage to private property, and the inherent risks materialize and cause damage. *P. Bell v. City of San Diego*, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 897 (Cal. App. 4th Dist. 2000)⁵. Here, the inevitable

- 7 -

⁵ Hon. Dirk M. Sandefur, while occupying the District Court bench, compiled a very thorough and complete history of inverse condemnation claims in Montana, as distinct from formal "takings" of private property, in his December 31, 2012 Order in *Evenhus v. City of Great Falls*. In doing so, Judge Sandefur relied on *P. Bell v. City of San Diego*, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 897 (Cal.

introduction of grease into a city sewer line "collects on the pipe walls, and it just keeps collecting until it eventually chokes off the pipe, the flow." Depo. Emerick, 53:2-6 (Tab 3); Depo. Alston, 62:23-25 (Tab 4).

The common vein running through Montana's long history of inverse condemnation law is the principle that the inevitable, consequential damage resulting from a deliberate governmental undertaking is compensable under the Montana Constitution. The District Court's decision that "[i]nverse condemnation requires deliberate affirmative action" runs afoul of this long-standing principle, and the Court's order denying the plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment and dismissing their claim for inverse condemnation should be reversed. The Court should further conclude that SSO events caused by grease accumulation are an inherent and necessary consequence of the operation of public sewers, allowing it to conclude that Ms. Wittman and Mr. Taylen's property was damaged for a public use, without just compensation, as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

Despite its caption reference to "eminent domain," Article II, § 29 is not the source of the State's eminent domain power. Eminent domain derives from the power of sovereignty and is the right of the state to take private property for public

App. 4th Dist. 2000). This Order was included with Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (Dkt. #14, pp. 28-47) and is included here as Tab 6.

use. *Montana Talc Co. v. Cyprus Mines Corp.*, 229 Mont. 491, 501, 748 P.2d 444, 450 (1987) (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 70-30-101, et seq); First Eng. Evangelical Lutheran Church of Glendale v. Los Angeles Cty., Cal., 482 U.S. 304, 321, 107 S. Ct. 2378, 2389, 96 L. Ed. 2d 250 (1987). "At its heart, the sovereign's right of eminent domain is little more than an embodiment of the principle that the rights of the individual sometimes pale in comparison with the needs of the common welfare." Lake v. Lake Cty., 233 Mont. 126, 130, 759 P.2d 161, 163 (1988) (citing Butte, Anaconda & Pacific Ry. v. Montana Union Ry. Co., 16 Mont. 504, 536, 41 P. 232, 243 (1895)). The decision to exercise the power of eminent domain is a legislative function. Hawaii Hous. Auth. v. Midkiff, 467 U.S. 229, 240, 104 S. Ct. 2321, 2329, 81 L. Ed. 2d 186 (1984).

In contrast, Article II, § 29 is part of a broader declaration of fundamental rights this Court has repeatedly concluded are entitled to "the highest level of protection." *Walker v. State*, 2003 MT 134, ¶ 74, 316 Mont. 103, 120, 68 P.3d 872, 883 ("We have repeatedly recognized the rights found in Montana's Declaration of Rights as being 'fundamental,' meaning that these rights are significant components of liberty, any infringement of which will trigger the highest level of scrutiny, and, thus, the highest level of protection by the courts.")

Essentially, Article II, § 29 is a Montana citizen's check on the state's power to passively take or damage private property incident to governmental

undertakings without providing just compensation:

Where government does not recognize that a particular circumstance amounts functionally to a taking for public use or otherwise fails to pay the requisite compensation for the property in question, the property's owner can, as here, pursue an "inverse condemnation" action.

City of Oroville v. Superior Ct., 7 Cal. 5th 1091, 1102, 446 P.3d 304, 310 (2019). The US Supreme Court has drawn the distinction between eminent domain and inverse condemnation by stating that, under the latter theory, "a condemning authority need only occupy the land in question," with no other "affirmative" action required by the government. Clarke, 445 U.S. at 257, 100 S. Ct. at 1130. Under this framework, Ms. Wittman and Mr. Taylen's claim for inverse condemnation succeeds.

I. Montana Inverse Condemnation Law Allows for the Recovery of Damages "Inadvertently" Caused and Does Not Require "Deliberate Affirmative Action" by the Government.

An Article II, § 29 inverse condemnation ("IC") claim requires no proof of negligence or other tortious conduct by the government. *Rauser*, 172 Mont. at 538, 565 P.2d at 637; *Deschner v. State of Montana, Dep't of Highways*, 2017 MT 37, ¶ 17, 386 Mont. 342, 390 P.3d 152. Prevailing on an IC claim allows for the recovery of uncommon consequential damage to un-taken private property directly or indirectly caused by a nearby public property use, improvement, or activity. *Less v. City of Butte*, 72 P. 140, 141 (1903) (consequential damage may impose

more serious loss than temporary spoliation or invasion of property); *Root v. Butte*, *Anaconda & Pac. Ry. Co.*, 20 Mont. 354, 356-60, 51 P. 155, 156-57 (1897) (consequential impairment of use, enjoyment, and value of residential property from railroad traffic in adjoining street).

The Montana Supreme Court has been examining IC cases for more than 120 years, with an IC-specific provision appearing in both the 1889 and 1972 Montana Constitutions. There are few legal principles in Montana that have deeper roots.

In *Root – Butte* (1897), the Montana Supreme Court considered whether a property owner could recover against the Butte, Anaconda, & Pacific Railway Company ("BAP") for the consequential damages suffered incident to the operation of BAP's short line railroad through town in Anaconda. *Root-Butte*, 20 Mont. at 354, 51 P. at 155. The property owner alleged that additional noise, shaking windows, and ringing bells depreciated the value of his property. *Id.* The *Root* Court viewed the property owner's IC claim favorably:

While it may be conceded that in estimating the plaintiff's damages the jury would not be permitted to take into account the consequences of the operation of the railroad which were common to the community at large, no sound reason exists for excluding from consideration such elements of inconvenience, annoyance, danger, and loss as result to the property, its use and enjoyment, from 'smoke, noises, and sparks of fire occasioned by running of locomotives and cars along the track in front of the same,' if it be shown that these caused special injury and depreciation to the property."

Id. at 156–57.

This basic principle – that uncommon, incidental, consequential harms occasioned by public undertakings are compensable for affected private property owners – has survived over 120 years of judicial scrutiny. *See Knight v. City of Billings*, 197 Mont. 165, 172-73, 642 P.2d 141, 144-45 (1982) (disparate consequential impairment of use, enjoyment, and value of residential property from increased traffic, noise, and pollution caused by an adjoining street was compensable under Article II, § 29); *Knight v. City of Missoula*, 252 Mont. 232, 241, 827 P.2d 1270, 1275 (1992) (consequential impairment of use and enjoyment of residential property from increased traffic, dust, and run-off in adjoining street was similarly compensable under IC jurisprudence); *Buhmann*, ¶ 69 (appropriation of private land for public use "will cause determinable consequential damages to property owners affected thereby").

In *Less* (1903), the Montana Supreme Court considered whether a homeowner could recover from the City of Butte for its re-grading of the street in front of his house, which resulted in the level of the street dropping seven feet in elevation from its prior grade. *Less v. City of Butte*, 72 P. 140, 141 (1903). Discussing the evolution in the law as it existed at the time, the *Less* Court noted that:

By the common law, municipal corporations were not held liable for **consequential damages** resulting to property owners by reason of

changes in street grades...The rule damnum absque injuria⁶ was held to apply to all such [public improvement] cases, unless the injury could be shown to have resulted from the negligent or improper manner in which the work was done... The framers of our Constitution abrogated this harsh rule by section 14, art. 37, which reads as follows: "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation having first been made to or paid into court for the owner."

Id. (emphasis added). The homeowner could thus recover for the City "inadvertently" damaging his property by dropping the grade of the street, even though this damage did not result from the "negligent or improper manner" in which the road grade was changed. *Id*.

Acting as a foundation stone of Montana IC law, the Less Court's reasoning was immediately applied to resolve the identical issue for three different sets of homeowners who were also affected by the re-grading of East Broadway Street in Butte. See Hanley v. City of Butte, 28 Mont. 36, 72 P. 1103, 1103 (1903); Holland v. City of Butte, 28 Mont. 34, 72 P. 1103 (1903); O'Donnell v. City of Butte, 28 Mont. 35, 72 P. 1103, 1103 (1903). Fifteen years later, the Court in Eby v. City of Lewistown invoked the Less reasoning once again. Eby v. City of Lewistown, 55 Mont. 113, 173 P. 1163, 1165 (1918). The Rauser Court likely had Less in mind when it stated that IC claims allow for recovery of "unexplained and unplanned for problems," and that "[i]n many instances there is no negligence or other wrongful

⁶ "Loss or damage without injury"

⁷ The 1889 Montana Constitution's counterpart to Art. II, § 29 in the 1972 Constitution.

conduct or omission on the part of the defendant." *Rauser*, 172 Mont. at 538, 565 P.2d at 637. The *Rauser* Court later synthesized *Root-Butte* and *Less* by importing the concept of foreseeability into Montana's IC analysis:

Where, as here, the damages are known or knowable and are an inevitable result of the intentional undertaking of the project, there is no need to show negligent design, construction or operation. It is enough to show the damages were proximately caused by the undertaking of the project and a reasonabl[y] foreseeable consequence of the undertaking.

Rauser, 172 Mont. at 538, 565 P.2d at 637 (emphasis added).

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