06/16/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0609

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Cause No. DA 20-0609

ARIANE WITTMAN and JEREMY TAYLEN,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

-VS-

CITY OF BILLINGS,

Defendant/Appellee.

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, Cause No. DV 19-1124, Hon. Michael G. Moses Presiding

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEARANCES:

Gerry P. Fagan
Afton E. Ball
MOULTON BELLINGHAM PC
27 North 27th Street, Suite 1900
P. O. Box 2559
Billings, MT 59103-2559
406-248-7731
Gerry.Fagan@moultonbellingham.com
Afton.Ball@moultonbellingham.com

Attorneys for Appellee City of Billings

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

eminent domain by taking action that it knew or could foresee would result in the damaging of the Hendersons' private property. *Id.* at 496-97.

The Oregon Supreme Court also analyzed the same issue in 2014. It articulated the reasoning underlying the requirement that an inverse condemnation claim must be based upon something more than mere inadvertence or negligence by a governmental entity. In *Dunn v. City of Milwaukee*, 328 P.3d 1261 (Or. 2014), the Oregon Supreme Court considered whether an inadvertent or negligent sewage backup could constitute inverse condemnation by a city. Both the trial court and the Oregon Court of Appeals had found in favor of the plaintiff on her inverse condemnation claim. The court reversed and dismissed the claim.

The court concentrated on what type of governmental acts amount to a taking. *Id.* at 1267. The court understood that this was the central question because the plaintiff's inverse condemnation claim arose from the government's power of eminent domain. *Id.* at 1270. The court recognized the power of eminent domain is "affirmative in nature," and is exercised for a particular purpose: to benefit the public. *Id.* The court further recognized that the argument that a government entity could exercise its eminent domain power "through error, accident, or inadvertence, is at odds with the nature of the power itself." *Id.*

Consequently, inadvertent, and unintended acts could not give rise to inverse condemnation liability as a taking. Instead, if there was liability, the court recognized that it arose as an ordinary tort, not a taking. *Id.* Therefore, to prove that a taking had occurred, it was necessary to show the governmental entity had intended to invade the property owner's interest. *Id.* at 1272. A plaintiff could prove this by showing that the entity intentionally acted to damage the property, or that the damage to an owner's interest was the "necessary, substantially certain, or inevitable consequence" of an act by the entity. *Id.*

The plaintiff in *Dunn* did not have this necessary evidence. The court ruled that the plaintiff had no evidence that the sewage backup "was the necessary, certain, predictable or inevitable result" of city conduct in maintaining its sewage system. *Id.* at 1274. Instead, the plaintiff could only potentially show that the city had acted negligently. Therefore, the court reversed the lower court and ordered the inverse condemnation claim dismissed. *Id.* at 1275. The court also pointed out that its ruling still left an injured party with the potential for tort claims. *Id.*

Less than three years ago, the Vermont Supreme Court in *Lorman v. City of Rutland*, 2018 VT 64, \P 37, 193 A.3d 1174, rejected the viability of an inverse condemnation claim for sewage backups on several plaintiffs' properties that were "intermittent, limited, and transient." The three plaintiffs had all incurred a sewer

backup during a rainstorm in 2014. They also alleged they had respectively incurred several previous backups scattered over a number of years. *Id.* The court recognized that "[w]hen the intrusion is limited and transient in nature and occurs for legitimate governmental reasons, it does not amount to a taking." *Id.* at ¶ 36 (internal citation omitted). The court therefore affirmed summary judgment to the defendant City, holding that while "no backup is insignificant, the backups occurred intermittently over a long period of time, and we conclude that this does not suffice to show a taking under the law." *Id.* at ¶ 37.

In *City of Dallas v. Jennings*, 142 S.W.3d 310 (Tex. 2004), the Texas Supreme Court also considered whether a sewage backup constituted inverse condemnation. The Texas Supreme Court concentrated on whether a negligent or accidental act that caused property damage could constitute taking or damaging property for public use. *Id.* at 313-14. The court adopted a rule that provided a governmental entity could be liable for an unconstitutional taking only if it were shown the governmental entity had the proper intent to cause the consequences of its act. *Id.* at 314 (citations omitted). The court ruled that the governmental entity must know that either a specific act is causing the identifiable harm or knows that the specific property damage is substantially certain to result from an authorized governmental action. *Id.* The court further ruled that "[w]hen damage is merely the accidental result of the

government's act, there is no public benefit and the property cannot be said to be "taken or damaged for public use." *Id.* at 313. The court recognized that this standard for an unconstitutional taking comported with the takings jurisprudence of various other states with similar constitutional provisions to that in Texas.⁴ *See Id.* (citations omitted).

Consequently, the Texas Supreme Court ruled that it was proper to dismiss the Jennings' unconstitutional takings claim because there was no evidence the city had acted with the necessary intent to take the plaintiff's property. The court ruled there was no evidence the city knew any flooding would occur or that it was substantially certain after it unclogged the sewer line. *Id.* at 315.

At least two other state Supreme Courts have also rejected inverse condemnation claims involving sewage backups. *See Edwards v. Hallsdale-Powell Util. Dist. Knox Cty., Tenn.*, 115 S.W.3d 461, 463 (Tenn. 2003) (reversing appellate court to reject inverse condemnation claim involving multiple sewage backups because governmental defendant had not performed "a purposeful or intentional act for a taking to exist"); and *AGCS Marine Ins. Co. v. Arlington Cty.*, 800 S.E.2d 159,

⁴ Texas' takings provision is similar to Montana's, providing that "[n]o person's property shall be taken, damaged, or destroyed for or applied to public use without adequate compensation being made..." *See* Tex. Const. art. I, § 17

166 (2017 Va.) (requiring showing for viable inverse condemnation claim that damage resulted from "purposeful act or omission" of government; negligence or inadvertence not enough).

In addition to rulings from state Supreme courts across the nation, there are also rulings from at least two state Appellate courts rejecting inverse condemnation claims involving an inadvertent sewer backup. *See Rolandi v. City of Spartanburg*, 363 S.E.2d 385, 387 (S.C. Ct. App. 1987) (affirming summary judgment to city on inverse condemnation claim because there was no showing of "affirmative, aggressive, or positive act" by governmental entity to support a takings claim); *Christ v. Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer Dist.*, 287 S.W.3d 709, 713 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009) (takings claim failed in party because there was no showing of affirmative act by governmental entity that caused backup at issue). All told, we have found at least eight states that have specifically rejected inverse condemnation claims for inadvertent or negligent sewer backups.

Further, while not dealing specifically with sewage backups, there are other analogous state Supreme Court rulings dismissing inverse condemnation claims for the same reasons based upon temporary, inadvertent leaks or backups of fluids. These cases include *Knutson v. City of Fargo*, 714 N.W.2d 44, 49-50 (N.D. 2006) (water main leak did not constitute inverse condemnation because there was no

evidence to show municipality had undertaken deliberate act to take or damage plaintiffs' property); *Electro-Jet Tool Mfg. Co. v. City of Albuquerque*, 845 P.2d 770, 779 (N.M. 1992) (plaintiff in inverse condemnation claim claiming damage from drainage ditch leakage required to prove municipality deliberately took calculated risk so that damage at issue can be said to have occurred for public use); and *Chavez v. City of Laramie*, 389 P.2d 23, 25 (Wyo. 1965) (water main leak did not constitute inverse condemnation because not every destruction of property or injury is covered by constitutional takings guaranty and where injury involves a tort, being caused by alleged negligence, it cannot be said property is taken or damaged for public use).

Appellants ignored entirely the applicable case law from other jurisdictions. Amicus curiae, the Montana Trial Lawyers Association ("MTLA"), did address the case law, albeit briefly, in a sentence or two. Amicus curiae attempted to sweep it away by arguing the case law all required governmental entities to "intend the damage." (MTLA Brf., p. 13) (emphasis by MTLA) Amicus curiae did not accurately portray that caselaw.

While the caselaw does generally discuss the intention of the governmental actors, the case law does so in terms of whether there was evidence that the various actors intended to or did take deliberate actions or make deliberate decisions which led to the damage at issue in the various cases. For example, in Nebraska, it is

necessary to show the asserted invasion to the property was the "direct, natural, or a probable result of an authorized activity and not the incidental or consequential injury inflicted by the action." *See Henderson, supra,* 827 N.W.2d at 494-95 (citation omitted). Similarly, in Texas, it is necessary to show a governmental entity knew the specific property damage was substantially certain to result from an authorized governmental action and took that action anyway. *See City of Dallas, supra,* 142 S.W.3d at 314. In North Dakota, it is necessary to show the damage was caused by "by some deliberate act" of a governmental entity. *See Knutson, supra,* 714 N.W.2d at 49. In Oregon, it is necessary to prove the governmental entity had intended to invade the property owner's interest by showing the property damage to an owner's interest was the "necessary, substantially certain, or inevitable consequence" of an act by the entity. *See Dunn, supra,* 328 P.2d at 1272-73.

In short, the caselaw from other jurisdictions on sewage backup cases stands for the proposition that there must be a showing that the governmental actors took deliberate or intentional steps or made deliberate choices to design, construct, or operate governmental sewage systems in a manner which caused the property damage at issue. It is simply not accurate to depict the caselaw as holding that an actor must have acted with an intent to damage.

And in actuality, these decisions are very similar to what this Court has previously required in Rauser and Deschner. In Rauser, this Court held it is necessary to show the property damage was "an inevitable result of the intentional undertaking of the project," and was caused "by a public improvement as deliberately planned and built." Rauser, supra, 172 Mont. at 539, 565 P.2d at 638. In *Deschner*, this Court held it is necessary to show that the governmental actor deliberately planned and built a public improvement that, as planned and built, proximately caused damage to the plaintiff's property. See Deschner, 2017 MT 37 at ¶ 22. Therefore, under Montana law, it is necessary to show that the governmental actor intended to plan and build a project in a manner which caused the damage at issue. The cases from other jurisdictions have similar requirements for inverse condemnation and their rulings on sewage backup cases are instructive and persuasive here.

III. OROVILLE SHOULD NOT BE ADOPTED AND WOULD NOT CHANGE THE OUTCOME OF THIS CASE ANYWAY.

Both Appellants and the amicus curiae presented the California Supreme Court's decision in *City of Oroville v. Superior Court*, 446 P.3d 304 (CA 2019), as a type of panacea for Appellants' claim in this case. Amicus curiae spun the decision repeatedly as a simple and needed "refinement" of the Montana law on inverse condemnation law intended to root out the application of purported negligence

standards to inverse condemnation claims. (*See* MTLA Brief, pp. 1, 2, 8 & 9) Both parties urged its adoption and declared the decision as being easily met in this case by Appellants, curing all the alleged ills by the District Court's ruling in this case.

There are multiple reasons that Appellants' and amicus curiae's arguments about the adoption of *Oroville* fail and must be rejected.

First, Appellants never presented or argued for the adoption and application of the *Oroville* decision to the District Court, despite the fact the decision had been issued some nine to ten months before Appellants filed their final dispositive briefing to the District Court. Appellants' and amicus curiae's arguments about the adoption and application of *Oroville* constitute a new legal theory or argument and cannot therefore be considered by this Court.

As a rule, this Court will not consider new issues, new arguments, or new legal theories raised for the first time on appeal.⁵ *See Masters Grp. Int'l, Inc. v. Comerica Bank*, 2015 MT 192, ¶ 40, 380 Mont. 1, 352 P.3d 1101 (citation omitted); *Hanley v. Dep't of Revenue*, 207 Mont. 302, 306, 673 P.2d 1257, 1259 (1983) ("It

⁵ There are a few exceptions to the rule, but they are limited and typically apply only to criminal cases and, even then, are only allowed when constitutional or substantial rights of the parties are at issue. *See Renner v. Nemitz*, 2001 MT 202, ¶ 15, 306 Mont. 292, 33 P.3d 255 (citation omitted). There is no exception for new issues that involve undisputed facts and raise only questions of law. *See Unified Indus., Inc. v. Easley*, 1998 MT 145, ¶¶ 16-17, 289 Mont. 255, 961 P.2d 100.

has long been the rule in Montana that a legal theory raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered by this Court."). To preserve an issue for appeal, an appellant must first raise that specific issue in the district court. *See In re T.E.*, 2002 MT 195, ¶ 20, 311 Mont. 148, 54 P.3d 38; *Ginn v. Smurfit Stone Container Enterprises, Inc.*, 2015 MT 81, ¶ 35, 378 Mont. 378, 344 P.3d 972 (citations omitted). The Court has adopted this rule "because it is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." *See In re Marriage of Solem*, 2020 MT 141, ¶ 14, 400 Mont. 186, 464 P.3d 981 (citation omitted). In short, a "party complaining of error must stand or fall on the grounds relied upon in the trial court." *See Hanley, supra*, at 307, 673 P.2d at 1259.

The rule applies to preclude any type of new argument, including new arguments about the law. *See e.g.*, *Farm Credit Bank of Spokane v. Hill*, 266 Mont. 258, 263, 879 P.2d 1158, 1161 (1993) ("[w]hen a party argues for the application of a statute for the first time on appeal, the party raises a new set of questions that were not presented to the district court."); *Hares v. Nelson*, 195 Mont. 463, 466, 637 P.2d 19, 21 (1981) (refusing to apply statute on appeal where appellant made no claim to district court that statute was controlling); *Hanley, supra*, 207 Mont. at 307, 310, 673 P.2d at 1259, 1261 (refusing to consider new arguments on application of

administrative rule and on administrative agency's legal authority over other entities); *Unified Indus., Inc. v. Easley*, 1998 MT 145, ¶¶ 21-24, 289 Mont. 255, 961 P.2d 100 (appellant's reliance on one subsection of statute in trial court did not preserve for appeal new argument under different subsection of same statute that presented different set of legal questions and new theory of recovery).

Appellants' and amicus curiae's arguments urging this Court to adopt and apply the holding in *Oroville* is clearly a new argument that was never presented to the District Court. Appellants never asserted their *Oroville* argument to the District Court, including through any of their three substantive briefs filed on the issue of inverse condemnation. (*See* Doc. Nos. 14, 18 & 35) The *Oroville* decision was issued in August 2019, more than a half year before Appellants filed their first arguments to the District Court beginning in March of 2020. (*See* Doc. No. 13)

On appeal, however, they argued this Court should adopt the holding in *Oroville*, apply the holding, and rule in Appellants' favor because of the holding (Appl. Brf., pp. 19-20 & 24-26); the *Oroville* argument is the linchpin of their appellate argument. To now consider the merits of Appellants' *Oroville* argument would violate this Court's established rule precluding new arguments and new legal theories. *See Masters Grp.*, 2015 MT 192, at ¶ 40; *Hanley, supra*. It would also be "fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue

it was never given the opportunity to consider." *See In re Solem*, 2020 MT 141, at ¶ 14. Therefore, the Court must decline to address, consider, adopt, or apply the new *Oroville* argument or theory.

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